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Interviewer went to see Dick Sasaki the other night to as k him 
if he would cooperate in giving something of his expe riences during 
the year and a half since the outbreak of war. He expresse d willing-
ness, but when I added that I hoped that we might eventu ally publish 
"the truth regarding the evacuation and its effect on th e people , 
he inquired skeptically whether I thought any such publicat ion would 
help the situation of the Japanese in America. "How many persons 
would be affected by such a publication?" I admitted th at the in-
fluence of any account might be limited by the tendency of  the people 
to accept the views written about. Dick then quickly ad mitted the 
truth of what I said, but the quickness and intensity with wh ich he 
retracted his view and accepted mine seemed to indicat e that he only 
wished to avoid any further discussion of the point alt hough he 
continued to mainatin his skepticism. 

I v/ent down to his apartment (Dick and Lily live in the sam e 
building as we do), and Lily, his wife, offered to go in th e kitchen 
and iron while we carried on our discussion in the living room. 
The Kitchen is separated from the living room so_she wa s absent 
during the interview. Dick started by saying, "I don't kno w what 
you 111 get out of interviewing me, but I 111 tell you what 1 can. 
I'm sure there must be better people to interview than m yself." 
There was a touch of embarrassment in this initial situa tion, but 
I assured him that we were interested in what he had to s ay, and 
as the interview went on the strain quickly disappeared . 

"I was born in Tacoma, Washington in 1914. When i was just 
one year old, my father and mother went to Japan, and took  me with 
them. I was there until I was fifteen, and 1 returned to the U.S. 
¿bn May 27, 1930." 

"I'll tell you why I decided to come to America. In the vill age 
where I lived on the island of Shikoku, everybody wanted t o come to 
America about that time. Everybody in Japan about then envied the 
Japanese in America, they all wanted to come to America, it was a 
great thing to go to America in those days. Being able to com e to 
this country was really something important to the peop le. At the 
time there was no anti-United States talk among the peo ple of that 
village. No, I can't recall any talk that was against Am erica in 
those^days. I suppose, in a way, the envy they had then w as the 
source of their hatred later. Some of the Japanese who had mi grated 
to this country would return to the village to visit, an d they brought 
with them so many conveniences which people in Japan, a t least in 
that area, never dreamed about that it seemed America mus t be rolling 
in wealth and comfort. Whenever any such visitor arrived, t he people 
would go to talk to them, just to find out what the conditi ons were 
in this country, and they envied the visitors for what the y had. 
I guess I was swept by the talk of the older people. Since I was 
born in America and could return to this country, I felt I h ad some-
thing that the others didn't have. America was a wonde rful country, 
as the people thought of it, and I wanted to see what the p lace was 
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"I was just fifteen then, and had finished the second ye ar of 
chugakko (middle school). Well, actually it was an agricul tural 
school, a high school, and I was interested in doing somethi ng with 
science in applying it to agriculture. My father died when I was 
still a baby, only about a year after we went to Japan, and although 
my mother wanted to return to this country, she overstaye d her visa 
and couldn ! t get back. That was another reason, I think, that I 
decided to come to this country. My mother always wanted to come 
back to the United States but couldn't, and when I told he r that 
I wanted to see America, she felt that I should go. I suppos e she 
let me go because she wanted to return herself. She proba bly thought 
too that I should see this country." 

"It happened that there was another fellow,qborn in Ameri ca, 
« who lived in the same village as myself, and he decided a bout then 

that he would come to this country. You remember Kay Iwago who 
operated the Richfield Station on Jackson St. in Seattle?  H e's the 
fellow. When Iwago said he was going to America, I decide d that 
I'd like to go too. My mother gave me permission, so I left for 
this country." 

"When I arrived in May 1930, the depression was just beginni ng 
and I had a hard time finding any place to live and any jo b to work 
at. I had no relatives in the United States, so I went to live with 
some friends of the family in Weat Seattle. Oh, that fir st summer 
I was here, I went to work in the country.to work on the f arm. What's 
that place out near Auburn and Kent Thomas, that's it, Th omas. I 
worked there for about two months, picking berries, pea s, weeding 
the fields, and so on, and I made $100 in those two months. Oh , 
gosh, I was happy. By golly, I thought it was just wonder ful. I 
was only fifteen then, you remember, and I'd never earned anywhere 
near that much ever before._ One day, picking peas, I made §7 in 
one day. I really thought I was rich." 

"I lived at my  friend;! s  place for a half a year, and went to 
the foreign class at Pacific School during that time. Yo u remember 
Miss Smith who used to teach that class? She was a nice tea cher. 
There were fellows like Tom Uyeno, Hashida who got beate n up in 
Tule Lake, Hashimoto, Iwago, and a lot of other fellow s. About 
that time, a couple came to Pacific School and asked Hi ss Smith to 
recommend someone for a school boy job. I don't know why s he pick-
ed on me, but I got the job and went to live with this family out 
near the Rainier Golf Club, it's out near Des Moine. Miss S mith 
told me 1 should take the job, but when I left the school I wa s 
very lonesome at first because I'd had to leave my friend s like 
Tom and Hashida." 

"At first I thought it was a terrible place. The people were 
all right, but I didn't have any friends ixK and I was lone some. 
And then I couldn't speak or understand the language very we ll. 
I'll tell you: sometimes when the people of the house were n't home 
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and the phone v/ould ring, I'd have to answer it. I couldn' t under-
stand what they'd tell me, and they couldn't understand  me, but I'd 
take down their number« Then when the man came home and c alled the 
number, he'd get  SOKE thing that was entirely off. Oh, gosh, it used 
to be terrible. Sometimes when the mister and missus sta yed down-
town late and were latex getting home for dinner, they'd p hone me 
and instruct me to start the vegetables. I'd have a hard t ime un-
derstanding them, and finally they made me repeat back to th em over 
the phone what I was supposed to flo. ^ut those people we re ni ce to 
me. They taught me American manners and customs, how to set the 
table, and even how to serve wines. Right now I can serve  any kind 
of wines; oh, yes, Iknow how to wrap the wines in cloth an d so on." 

,-"I had a very hard time adjusting, and I probably pick ed up 
my moodiness then, I don't know. I spent a lot of time to my self 
because I didn't knov/ anybody, and I'd think about things. I tried 
to write poetry then no, not in Japanese, in English. I di dn't 
know much English and I couldn't write poetry very well, bu t £ tried. 
I suppose that was one way I tried to adjust to that situ ation." 

"I started in at the Highline grammar school. The princip le 
first put me into the 7th grade, but after I tried that for  a while 
I decided it was too hard for me and asked to be deo\nj;ed t o the 
6th grade. I tried the 6th grade, but that was too hard too, so I 
asked to be demoted to the 5th grade. By the time the se mester 
ended in the 5th grade, though, I was getting along in my sc hool-
work, so I was advanced to the 6th grade. After a half a ye ar in 
the 6th grade I was advanced to the 7th. Altogether I spe nt only 
three sememters in grammar school, and then they graduat ed me. 
English was the only thing that was hard for me. I'd had s ome 
English in Japan, but it didn't help me at all in school here . 
But I never had any trouble with the school work. Penmanship was 
one thing I was good in. Oh, boy, I beat everybody. I did n't 
know a thing about English, but I could write better than a nybody 
in the class. The other kids couldn't understand it. Th ey were 
surprised." 

"One thing I remember distinctly is that I was able to d raw 
well which made it easy for me to get along with the Caucasi an kids 
and teachers. I've always liked to draw, paint, sketch, do mechanic-
al and architectural drawings, and since the other kids would have 
trouble with it, I'd help them out and that way I got to k now quite 
a few of the kids. About that time, the Highline Grammar S chocbl 
was having a new building built, and they had a blueprint o f this 
new building. The principle asked me to make a copy of  it which 
they were going to exhibit at a kind of open house, so I di d it 
fur him. That pleased him, I guess, and I think most peop le liked 
it. I got along well with the teachers." 

"I've always been interested in sports, but at first bec ause 
1 didn't know anybody and I know any of the American games, I h ied 
back. I'd learned something about baseball in Japan, b ut I didrr̂ t 
know anything about football, basketball, tennis, and some of the 
other sports. The teachers kept urging me to participat e, and finally 
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I began to play baseball and football, and some of the ot her games. 
The teachers had to coax me pretty hard. I never played ba sketball 
because I had no shoes. I joined the Boy Scouts too._ I was always 
pretty good at making things and doing handicrafts. 1 m ade posters 
for the school. Anyway, some of the soout leaders came to the people 
for whom I worked and asked if they wouldn't urge me to join. It 
was always an advantage to me because I could do a lot of thing s and 
people thought highly of me for it. I joined the troop, and  when-
ever there was any competition between the squads in m aking things 
or doing things, our squad always won because i was in it. I c ould 
beat the other fellows at that kind of work." 

"I got to know quite a few of the fellows in school that way, 
but I didn't know their parents very well. Sometimes whe n we took 
trips to the mountains, they were often sponsored by t he parents 
and I got to know some of them then, but on the whole I did n't have 
many friends among the parents." 

"During that time, too, I got to know Iku Nishikawa, who lived 
out in Sunnydale, and the Mikamis, Hasegawas, Tamesas, a nd some of 
the other Japanese living aroundthere. I used to go over t o the 
Nishikawa's home on Sundays; they'd invite me to dinner. " 

"My duties around the home where I worked Has washing dish es, 
mowing the lawn, cleaning house, and 1 also learned to driv e a car 
while I was there. People used to come down to the place an d coax 
me to join all kinds of activities, but I didn't have much time 
because of the work. Another thing, I was airplane crazy in those 
days. All the kids were, of course, and I was very much int erested. 
There was the time that Pangborn and the other fellow was going to 
make a trans-Pacific flight, and they were showing the ai rplane 
at the Bon Marche. I wanted to see that airplane. So one morn ing 
I left home with my lunch as I usually did, but instead of goi ng 
to school, I went to see this airplane. It was the first time I 
cut class. The teacher and principle at the school got worr ied 
when I didn't show up, and finally they sent the janifc or down to 
my place to find out what had happened to me. When the janit or 
asked the lady of the house, she said I'd left for school, and 
when they went down to my room in the basement to see if I we re 
there, of course I wasn't there. Then they got worried  and began 
to wonder where I'd gone. When I got home, she asked me where I'd 
gone and I told her I'd gone to see the airplane. They bav /led me 
out for Skipping school. Then I got bawled out by the princi ple. 
I told him where I'd gone, and he said, "Of course, we all w ant to 
see the airplane, but we have to go to school." That's the o nly 
time in the last thirteen years of school that I've ever  skipped 
class. Boy, I'll never forget the time I skipped school. I used 
to make model airplanes, and I was interested in drawing and sketch-
ing, though I've never done an$ oil painting, and of co urse used 
to do some photography. I was only puterring around with p hotography 
then." 

"I spent most of my time studying, especially at first wh en I 
didn't know many people. For about four or five years after coming 
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i - i T studied English. That was the hardest thing for me. I 
o o u ! d f S  rny^ool'work very quickly, it didn't take time, 
so X spent most of my time working on my English. The schoo l as-
signments in English weren't very difficult and there wasn t very 
much of it, so I'd spend my time reading other things. I was  self 
c o n s c i o u s  about my English, I couldn't express my thoughts adequate -
ly and that bothered me, and I still have the trouble. My English 
isn't very good yet, and since my Japanese has dropped off i n the 
last fifteen years, I'm not good in either language now . Oh, yes. 
My Japanese has dropped off tremendously. I haven't had  jery  much 
contact with Japanese in the last thirteen years, I have nH read 
much in Japanese, and it's surprising how much I've los t of the 
3 ™ a g e . ^hen X started going into the Japanese community  later, 
I found that I couldn't express my thoughts in Japane se any more. 
I didn't realize I'd forgotten so much until I had to use J apanese 
to the Issei. I suppose the fact that I'm not a strong conver sa-
tionalist has something to do with my not having picked up more 
English. If you divide people into those who are inclined to be 
talkative and those who are inclined to be quiet, I'd fall  into 
the latter category, I guess I never saw a Japanese jffl vie sinee 
coming to this country, and I've never wanted to see one . Of course, 
they  w e r e  expensive, and that was another reason why I didn t go, 
but I wasn't interested in seeing Japanese movie«. 

"I entered high school in 1932, and finished in 1935. After 
I'd been in the 8th grade for a month at the beginning_of  the fall 
term, the teachers thought I should go to high school inste ad. I 
was one month late starting high school, but they thou ght I could 
do the work all right. So they put me in high scnool, a nd the 
funny thing was that I got all A's that quarter. It was th e first 
a X l a s t time I got all A'.s in high school, but I got it in my  first 
term there. The teachers thought there was something fun ny because 
I'd started the term late." 

"The reason the 8th grade teacher thought I should be adva nced 
was because I'd finish my school work very quickly and she thought 
I wasn't doing anything. Well, school work didn't tak e much time 
for me, so I started taking work by correspondence. I regi stered 
with the International Correspondence schoo l—the one a t ocranton, 
Penn., that was i t — a n d it cost me $100 to take the full cou rse. 
I was getting $3 a week then, $12 a month, and out of that I paid 
$5 a week fo? this course. Well, I got a complete course in aut o-
motive mechanics. You see, the other kids used to spend a ll their 

free time playing around, but I felt that was a waste of  time. 
m t h o S h Dick failed to put it so himself, apparently the teac hers 
considered him a worthy student when they  l e a r n e d  of his special 
studies by himself and decided to advance him to high school .) 

"I got into high school one month late because I;d started out 
in the 8th grade, b5t that quarter I got all A's in high sch ool. 
Sa t ' s the first and last time I got all A's, at least in high 
school. Of course, in college there were some years wh en I gota l l 
I°s but in high school that was the only time. The teache rs thought 



there was something funny when they found out I got all A ! s in my 
first year in high school after starting one month late," 

"I entered high school in the fall of 1952 and finished in 1 935. 
Those three years were the most active and happiest time s. They weie 
my happiest years. I got used to getting around. The peo ple I stay-
ed with were very good to me. One thing, I couldn ! t participate in 
all the activities I wanted to because I had to work at hom e. The 
others had time for all kinds of activities, but I didn't although 
1 was interested in sports and activities. I never faced any dis-
crimination. Not a bit. I got along very well with all the  te  ache is 
and students." 

"That's the time I made friends with Ichiro and went to see 
him every Sunday. He was very active and populars, a very g ood 
student and he knew a lot of Caucasians. The art fceacher in high 
school took special interest in us and he used to invite u s over 
to his home some Sunday evenings. He was very nice to us. At that 
time there were no Nisei organizations in Sunnydale, an d we tried 
to start a seinenkai, but the parents opposed it. I guess  they were 
afraid we'd get to staying out late at night and that sort of thing. 
We had the idea of planting cherry treas at the high scho ol during 
the graduation ceremonies one year; we felt it would be a goo d thing. 
But there was quite a mix up about it all and the trees weren 't 
planted. The parents of most Nisei saw only two Nisei gradua ting 
that year, and they thought we were planting cherry tre es as gifts 
from those two students. When we went around for contributio ns for 
the trees they wouldn't help us out. They said there was no  need 
to contribute to the graduation of other people's childre n. The 
cherry trees were finally planted a couple of years late r, but we 
didn't get our way then. When the school had its vodvil, w e put on 
Japanese acts like the ondo, kendo, judo and so on. No, the re v/as 
no unfavorable reaction to our performances; in fact, the people 
were curious to know what Japanese performances v/e re like. I think 
they liked it." 

"It never occurred to me then about anit-Japanese talk. I nev-
er felt it. In fact, Ichiro still has a lot of friends among  those 
people although I've lost contact with most of them." 

"After graduating from high school, I went to Alaska. Tha t 
was the only time I went to Alaska. I v/as at Noyes Island.  I 
wanted to go again later, but by then the Alaska Canne ry Worker's 
Union had come in, and since I didn't go in 1936 when the un ion 
first started, I couldn't get in later when I wanted to go . When 
I came from Japan I had no idea of going on through sc hool, but by 
the time I finished high school, I didn't want to quids schoo l. I 
had to go on. It's hard to say when I first began thinking ab out 
going to college. When I entered high school, I had to spe cialize 
in some kind of course and i took college preparatory work.  I sup-
pose that's when I first began thinking of going on to col lege." 

"By the time I got through high school, I was pretty tired o f 
doing h&use work.  B oy, I just felt I didn't want to do it any more. 
When I •rcsKfc came back from Alaska, though, and decide d to go to high 
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college, I went right back to house work. I couldn't wor k out at 
Sunnydale any longer, that was too far to travel in going t o the Uni-
versity. It happened that Kay Iwago, the boy with whom I came over 
from Japan, had been working in a home in West Seattle, and si nce he 
was quitting his job, I went right in after him. They turned  out to 
be very nice people. When I went to the University the first year, 
I had ¿150 and I thought that would be enough. I managed my scho ol 
fees (about $100 a year) and everything on that. (Since Di ck took 
an engineering course and this course requires extra expen ses of 
equipment and breakage costs, etc., it is surprising that he managed 
on so small an allowance. Of course, he was making about $2 a week 
as a houseboy.) The next year, the people for whom I worked w anted 
to know what my plans were. They suggested that if I would stay to 
work for them during the summer, that they would help pay my expenses 
through school. I told them how much I thought it would cos t, I 
thought it would be about $250,and they said they would pay fo r the 
cost if I stayed for the summer. It actually cost me about $25 0 
to ¿280 a year, besides my board and rdom which I was earning . That 
was the way I worked through school. It wasn't a very good wa y to 

o to school. It's not something I would recommend to anyone else, 
t was very hard because I didn't have enough to buy the thing s I 

wanted, and there were other limitations. Miss. Roe, the w oman for 
whom I worked, though, was a very fine person. She came fro m Virginia 
of a very wealthy and intelligent family, and she was good  to me. 
Mr. Roe was an agent for the Northern Pacific Railv/ay Co . In fact, 
I wouldn't have been able to go through school except for th eir kind-
ness and sympathetic attitude." 

"After starting college I didn't have much time for anythi ng 
other than my schoolwork and the housework. I was taking che mical 
engineering and although it wasn't hard it took a lot of tim e. 
Whether engineering is hard for a person depends on the indi vidual, 
but it takes a lot of time for anyone. I'd possibly have time f or 
a movie on week-ends and h baseball game now and then. I hardly saw 
anyone during those years, except the students at school. I h ad no 

social life whatsoever. On the 4th of July I'd go out to see the 
annual baseball tournaments that the Nisei used to have, b ut I'd 
hardly meet any other Japanese otherwise. It took me five y ears tu 
graduate. It took me if hours by street car to get to school and 
another lj hours back. I'd have to get up before six oiclock to 
get to school, and I'd have to hurry home in the afternoon to do 
the work around the house." 

"I got my degree in 1940, and went on to take one year of grad u-
ate work. I finished my academic work toward the master's de gree, 
and during that year I got a readership in the math, depart ment so 
that things were a lot easier. I lived with the Roes until S&p tembe^ 
1941, but I then got a job in wine chemistry out at Sunnyside so 
I went out there to work for two months. In November the wo rk at 
Sunnyside was over so I quit and came back to Seattle. I didn 't 
want to go back to West Seattle to work in the home again, but I 
knew the Nakatas and since they invited me to live with them I v/ent 
over to their home. I was there until the evacuation, an d that's 
where I got to know Tachan very well." 
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" About 1938 my mother died in Japan. I was very badly distur bed 
mentally; I didn't know what to do. I had met Chihiro at schoo l 
because we were in the same honoraries and the similar type of work". 
He invited me to visit the young people's group at his chur ch (Ja-
panese Congregational Church in Seattle) and I felt that m^ ybe I 
could find something in religion that would help to set my m ind at 
rest. Anyway, I had known some church people in Japan in th e agri-
cultural school where 1 was, and I wanted to find out what C hT^stianity 
was like. That's how I started to go to the Congregational Church. 
(There was probably a certain social value attached to his associ-
ation with this young people's group, too, for it was a very c ongenial 
lot of rather serious minded yet friendly people.  1 his was where 
he met the girl whom kick later married,) I bought this book t he 
other day. (̂ e showed me a pocket book edition of Henry Link' s 
"Return to Religion"). Someone told me about it, and I thoug ht I 
might read it. I haven't gotten iiito it very far yet, but it  looks 
interesting, I don't think it makes a very great differen ce to most 
people v/hether they have religion or not, I think it's p robably a 
personal thing." 
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"Dick Sasaki" is a graduate in chemical engineering from 
the University of Washington, Seattle. He received his B .A. 
about 1939 and his M.A. about 1941. He is about 27 or 28 year s 
of age, 5* 7" tall, }.30# in weight, wears glasses, and gen eral-
ly speaking presents a clean-cut appearance. A Kibei w ho came 
to this country at 15. Attended Seattle Japanese Congr egational 
Church. Made excellent grades in his field, received a t each-
ing fellowship in his department. Quiet but well liked. 

"Lily Sasaki" is also from Seattle. High School graduate 
but no college education. About 24 years of age, 5' 3" tal l, 
110# in weight, wears heavy glasses, and fairly attractive. 
Comes from a religious Congregational family. Quiet and unag-
gressive but friendly. Married Dick in ^ule Lake in Sep t. 1942. 

Dick and Lily just moved into the same apartment that we liv e 
in this morning, and to relieve them the trouble of cook ing on their 
first day here, Michi invited them to supper. Before Qinner was 
served, Dick and I had a chance to chat for a while about his ex-
periences here as well as in Fruitland, Idaho, where they wer e prior 
to their arrival in Chicago about the middle of April. 

Dick: I came to this country when I was fifteen years old. A fter 
spending one semester at the Pacific School foreign stude nts' clasw 
(Seattle), I went to work as a schoolboy in a Caucasian ho me about 
three blocks from the Rainier G-olf Club. That's a little  beyond 
the South Park district in Seattle, I*here weren't any J apanese 
around there and I was very lonesome at first. I attended the 
Highland High School. You knew the Bushman boys, Bob and Fr ed, 
who lived out in Des Moines and their father was the ma nager of 
several salmon canneries in Southeastern Alaska? I got to know 
them at the high school; I didn't know Bob so well, but Fred, the 
one who was killed in the boat accident, l knew pretty wel l because 
he was in my class. Hideko N. was in my class, and I knew h er. 
Her family lived out in Sunnydale, and since they invited  me over, 
I used to visit them almost every Sunday. That's where I me t Saburo 
H. I don't know whether Mr. Kono was any relative of S abura's folks, 
but they had a farm right next to theirs, and I knew the Kon o boy. 
He was in the high school about the same time too. Yes, I knew 
all of them pretty well. 

(Our discussion went on about all the people we knew in c om-
mon who come from that district. The information about Dick's life 
in the following years is written up separately from my personal 
knowledge of him, and other information will be received from fur-
ther interviews.) 

Dick continued: We left 'Tule Lake on October 6, 1942 and wen t to 
work for the fruit drying plant at Fruitland, Idaho. I was w orking 
directly under the Italian, Arata, who operated the fru it drying 
plant, but the whole outfit was owned ̂ by the Growers and Shi ppers 
Association. You see, the Association had a membership o f some 
ten fruit growers in that region, and Arata was only running the plant 
for these growers. 
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Dick Sasaki (Alias) is a B.A. and M.A. from the University 
of Washington in Chemical Engineering. 
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We rented a four room house out there. The place didn f t have 
the conveniences we have here, but, I don't know, I think I' d rath-
er be back there now and than to be here in Chicago. I cert ainly 
preferred that life to the hotel life we've had for the past month 
and a half. (Lily chimed in to express confirmation of the vi ew. 
"We didn't have any running water in the house," she remark ed, "and 
we had to get all our water by pumping from a well. It was the first 
time I ever pumped water, but it was all right and I liked the p lace. 
Oh, it was a lot better than the hotel room we had.") Y es, we didn't 
have any running water and there were other inconveniences, but 
the people were good to us and life was more pleasant than he re in 
Chicago. Life here is so hectic, there are so many problems . That 
was the first time we had a house to ourselves, and  fcil^tiid  her 
first cooking for me there. We had a lot of fun trying out  differ-
ent things. 

We didn't know anyone when we got there, of course,but it w asn't 
long before we had quite a few friends. We got to know them thr ough 
the church. There was a Methodist Church in town, the town i tself is 
a very small place of about 3,000 people with onlv one main st reet 
of  shop s,  and we decided to attend that church. There weren't any 
young people of our age around, I guess they must have all g one into 
the Army or to the city to do war work, but all the people who were 
there were very kind to us. Major Lewis, the man who rented us the 
house, also went to that church and we got to know him well. He  v/as 
in the last war, and due to wounds which he received on his s houlder, 
he couldn't lift his arm and had to have hired hands to do al l the 
work on his farm. In spite of the fact that he's a ma^or, he ha d 
no prejudices against us, and frequently invited us over to his home. 
Major Lewis said that after the end of the last war he felt th at 
this country shouldn't have anything more to do with the trou bles 
in other parts of the world, and he just wanted to have a quie t place 
to live and bring up his family. But now his views have changed , 
and he thinks pretty much as Wendell Wilkie does, that the only way 
to bring about a lasting peace is for all the nations to g et together 
and work out a system whereby they can cooperate. 

(Lily had been sitting with us all this time adding brief com -
ments occasionally as Dick related their experiences to me. But 
Dick, who had noticed that Michi was working quietly by herse lf in 
the kitchen, turned to Lily and said, "Maybe you'd better he lp Michi." 
Lily responded quickly saying as she left, "I thought ma ybe ISd be 
more in the way than I'd be of help." She repeated this apol ogy to 
Michi in the kitchen. Lily is the second daughter in the Suye yama 
family, and it has always been evident that the older sister  is the 
more aggressive, responsible leader of the two. One notic es a cer-
tain carry-over of her habits of dependence even though she is now 
married and on her own; not that Lily acts helpless, but sh e isn't 
as mentally alert to situations as if she had been on her ow n all 
her life. Dick, on the other hand, has more the habit of leadership 
and one notices that he makes most of the major decisions in th e 
couple's relationships.) 
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Dick continued: Major Lewis had two sons. One of them wen t to An-
napolis and took training in the aviation corps, but he died in an 
accident before the war. The other one was at the Californi a Insti-
tute of Technology, but he also died although in his case it was 
from sickness, ^e also has two daughters, both of whom are no w 
married to men who are in the service. They live with thei r father 
because their husbands are away on combat duty. One of the h usbands 
is a lieutanant in the army. In spite of the war and everyth ing, 
the Lewis family treated us very well and were very good to us all 
the time we were there. Major Lewis was a state represen tative at one 

time. 

There was one woman in the church who was particularly^ goo d 
to us. They had a farm near our place, and she used to invite u s 
over almost every Sunday. She took Lily around and got h er into 
all kinds of clubs and women 1s groups, ^or instance, they had class-
es on the cooking of variety meats, and lily learned quite  a bit 
about cooking from attending those classes. There were ot her clubs 
that she took Lily to. The women of the church would sometime s have 
potluck dinners; you know how country people are, they get all their 
food from right off their farm so that we used to have really big 
dinners on these occasions. We got to know quite a few of the people 
around Pruitland that way. There weren't any other Nisei i n that 
area so all our contacts were with Caugasians. This lady a nd her 
family took us right in and made us feel as\if we were one ai has 
of their family. In the winter time we used to go sledding w ith 
this family. There were some hills around there that were jus t right 
for sliding, one hill in particular that had a curve to it w hich made 
it harder to slide down, and everyone in the family would get out 
and go sledding on this hill. The wife was a large woman, but e ven 
she would take her turn, and of course their kids would take p art 
too. The father would also join in. One thing I like about Cau casian 
families, and which surprises me, is the way the whole famil y joins 
in when they do things. I think it's very good. 

In the winter time it was too cold to go out and it did get  a 
little lonesome. Houses are pretty well set apart in the coun try, 
and it was a little hard to go visiting during the cold weath er.^ 
We spent our evenings playing checkers. (Lily: I'd get ma d at him 
because he'd beat me every time.) 

The month before we left for Chicago, we moved to Ontari o, Ore-
gon, which is just about two miles on the other side of the O regon 
boundary. We used to go there on Sundays from Pruitland to see 
some movies. We had to walk about a half a mile from our house i n 
Pruitland and ride the rest of the way on a taxi. There wasn 't 
any other way to get around. There wasn't anything to do in Pruit-
land about that time, so we looked for a place in Ontario. There 
was one apartment in Ontario where Ray N. and kis wife wer e living, 
and we moved into that place. We had a nice little place wit h a 
kitchennette. After we moved in, several other Japanese cou ples 
moved in and by the time we left,the whole place except for two 
tenants were Japanese. 

Ontario is quite a bit larger than Pruitland, and there w ere 
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quite a few Japa&nse around there. Before we got there it  seems 
that Ontario was a bit hostile to the Japanese, but that g raBdally 
broke down. There was only one place in Ontario Miat wouldn 't serve 
Japanese and that was a restaurant that had a sign out say ing  !! No 
Japs Served." I never went in there, but I heard that a coup le of 
Nisei fellows walked in and got kicked out. But Ontario was all 
right. We had no trouble while we were there. 

Around Fruitland and Ontario, there was a Caucasian mission ary 
worker who wanted to start a Japanese church and she got the o ther 
churches to cooperate in getting someting under way. They al so had 
a church for the Issei, and this missionary woman would inv ite a 
certain Rev. Schaeffer who had a church in that district to ŝ toak 
to them. Rev. Schaeffer had been in Japan for some thirt y-fivfe 
years and knew Japanese enough to preach to the Issei. He was a 
good man. 

Did you know the Itamis who had a large farm up near Woodenvil le 
in Washington? They bought a large 150 acre farm near Ontar io for 
some §20,000 or  so; maybe that included the cost of equipment and 
all. Ted N akanishi was working for Mr. It ami. Mr. It ami would make 
out a list of farm machinery that he wanted and the price th at he'd 
be willing to pay for it, and then Ted would go out to auation s 
that were being held in that region and buy up farm equipmen t. 
There were quite a few auctions of the kind, of people who w ere 
sealing out because they had to go into the Army or because they 
were going to the cities into war industry. Mr. It ami has a lot of 
money, and I guess he 111 do all right. He got everything he heeded 
through these auctions• 

The Japanese who are leasing farms and growing truck garde ning 
crops are mostly thinking in terms of cleaning up during the w ar, 
and then of getting out of that area. Right now there's a mark et 
for truck crops grown in the mountain states because of the la ck 
of sufficient truck crops on the Coast, but they figure that  after 
the war when truck crops are produced on the Ooast as in the f ormer 
days, there will be a transportation disadvantage in being too far 
out from the Coastal cities. Right now they have a Portland a nd 
Seattle market, but this won't last after the whole thing f s over. 

I wanted to find some work out in Idaho if I could so I inquired 
around at least in two companies. One was the X company, but they 
didn't need anybody at the time. The other company was the A malga-
mated Y. CoiSany, and I almost thought I was going to get a pos ition 
there. They wrote me that their chemist was leaving and tha t the 
position would be open to me. A little later, however, they wrote 
back saying that their chemist had decided to stay. I shou ld have 
liked to stay in Idaho if I could have. 

I wrote to Mr. Shirrell and he found a position for me with 
the company that I'm now with. This company turns out rubbe r rollers 
for printing presses, and is a subsidiary of the Cuneo Pres s. I 
believe Mr. Cuneo owns a lot of stock in our company, but i t's still 
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managed and operated by the former president of the compan y. He's 
Jewish and most of the workers are Jewish. My job in the labo ratory 
is to work with synthetic rulaber in trying to fit if for use in 
making these rubber rollers for printing presses. 

When we first arrived, Mr. Shirrell suggested that we ta ke 
a domestic job, that is, that Rose dox domestic work north of town, 
and we would thus have a place to stay. The home we went t o was 
in the suburbs 35 miles north of town, and it used to take me a 
good hour and a half to get to my place of work on 26th south. 
The people were nice, but it was just a little too much for me to 
travel back and forth all that distance, so we finally decid ed to 
move into town and give up the domestic position. We quit t hat 
place on Sunday, unfortunately, and when we came in to find a place 
to stay for a while, we found that most of the places were fil led 
up because it was the week-end. Rose and I went to the YMC A, but 
they didn't have anything open. We ran into Shin T. and he t old 
us that we could probably find something at the Maple Manor w here 
he and some of the others were staying, so that's how I got int o 
there. 

The Maple Manor is on the Near North Side right near the wor st 
part of the city. 'There were too many Japanese living in tha t apart-
ment and we didn't like that nor the area, so we've been hu nting for 
an apartment ever since. I think there must be some twenty J apanese 
living there. We had a room facing north and east so it was pr etty 
cool during the hot days. But living in a hotel isn't part icularly 
pleasant, and we got pretty tired of eating out. We've been ea ting 
out everyday most of the time at a Japanese restaurant near where 
we were staying. The place v/as fairly clean and the food wa sn't 
too greasy, but it just didn't taste like home cooking. Of cou rse, 
it wasn't a first class restaurant. 

We appreciate your help in finding this apartment for us. W e've 
decided to take the larger kitchen downstairs; the other one seemed 
a little small. After we went home last night, we decided th at we'd 
been so favorably impressed by the apartment after our li fe in a 
hotel room that we hadn't realized how small the kitchen wa s, and 
we decided after discussing the matter that we should take th e lar-
ger kitchen across the hall. It gives us more room to move a round 
in, and if we invite guests, we'll all be able to sit more com fort-
ably. Mrs. Morris, the landlady, seems a very nice sort of p erson, 

doesn't she? It's closer to my work too. I guess I can tak e the 
street car going down on Cottage Grovf, and get off around 2 6th. 
I could take the El, too, I suppose, but the street car woul d be all 
right. Rose could transfer to the Lake St. El. downtown and go 
straight to her work. 

The fellows who wrok with me are all nice fellows. We have a bout 
seven chemists working in our laboratory. They're all Jewi sh. I 
think the fact that they're Jewish makes them sympathize wi th our 
position more than if they were of the majority group. I believe 
they talk among themselves about their Jewish minority pos ition, but 
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I haven't heard them dis.cussing it very much. Only once or tw ice. 
I guess they're conscious of the fact they're Jewish, all rig ht. 
It's pretty hard to tell how good these men are in laboratory  tech-
niques because the work is somewhat routine, but I thin k over a 
period of time I could find out. Our head chemist is a very go od 
man. He's a hustler, and always keeps all of us on our toes. I 
believe he was the ranking student of his graduating class f rom 

College. Everyong seems to respect him. We have 
an Austrian Jewish refugee working.with us. He 1s a very interest-
ing fellow, and he and I have gotten along very well, I think part-
ly because he's gone through a somewhat similar experience t o my-
self. Then there's a young fellow, about 26 yrs., named Gold stein. 
I don't know whether he's Jewish, he doesn't look it. He's bi g and 
blonde, and doesn't look at all like a Jew. He's a very bri lliant 
young man v/ho graduated from Ohio State. I think has famil y set 
high hopes on him, but in college he became rather disorgani zed 
it°seems and almost flunked out of school. He played around with 
girls and took to drinking; wouldn't attend classes regul arly. 
But he's undoubtedly a brilliant boy and if he ever got himse lf or-
ganized, I imagine he would go far. The trouble with him i s that 
he's not interested in getting ahead. All he wants is to ha ve a 
job to live on, and then to enjoy himself as he wants. His philo -
sophy is, what's the use of working one's head off to get a head; 
it's enoughto have a job to live by. Others in the lab call him 
lazy, and I guess he is in a way. I think he goes out at nights 
quite frequently and spends his time drinking and foiling a round 
until early in the morning. He often gets home about 5:00 in the 
morning and then gets up to be at work at 8:00. I don't see how 
he keeps it up. 

Most of the fellows spend their lunch hour and spare time 
around the office playing bridge or some other card game. I just 
watch. But it's interesting. (Lily remarked that Dick has ta ken 
to reading the analyses of contract bridge in the newspaper s.) 

I'd like to get a little more interesting job with a future 
to it, but I think I'll stay at this place for a while until I 
can find something better. Since Mr. Shirrell found me thi s place 
and the head of the company has been quite decent to me, I don 't 
think I should quit right now, or look for anything else. On e of 
the fellows who's been working at this shop for the last thirteen 
years told me that he's going to quit this place as soon as h e can 
find something else. He says this is a "cheap outfit"; do esn't 
pay enough. (Michi discovered that Dick is probably getti ng about 
$35 a week.)I'll stay on until I learn something about the rubber 
industry, and then mabye I'll move on. I don't know anyth ing about 
chemical engineering of bubber. 

I'm going to night school right now. I wanted to get into a 
class on synthetic rubber that the school, the Illinois In stitute 
of Technology, had scheduled, but they cancelled that cl ass. I'm 
attending a class in plastics which should prove interesti ng. The 
class meets twice a week in the evenings, it's free and ope n to 
the public, and attended by all kinds of people who are inter ested 
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in the plastic industry. So far I haven 1t learned Anything because 
the lectures have been pretty elementary, but I'll stay wit h the class. 
(Dick's characteristic self discipline comes out in his app arent de-
sire not to miss a single class despite the fact that he decl ares 
there's little to be gained from attending just at present. He has 
a formal attitude of wanting to get a consecutive series of l ectures 
even if the discussions at present are not particularly en lighten-
ing to him.) The subject of synthetic rubber is already in the 
chemical engineering literature, and the chemistry is pre tty^well 
known publicly. The particular industrial process by whic h it s 
produced, however, is something that most companies don't r eveal. 
I can get the other out of books and magazines. 

(I inquired what Lily does on the nights that he attends class . 
She remarked, "Oh, I do the washing and Ironing, and I have a l ot of 
letters to write. There's always plenty to do." So she appa rently 
doesn't feel lonesome despite Dick's absence.) 

We've been spending our leisure time visiting the museums  and 
parks here. Have you been to the aquarium? It was very inte resting. 
We've also beeiPthe Museum of Natural History and Science . The  ? 

other Sunday we went up to Lincoln Park to their zoo, but vie h aven t 
been out to the Brookfield Zoo although we hope to get out ther e 
some time. (Lily mentioned that the Grant Park free concer ts are 
now on. She is seemingly eager to attend one of them some evening, 
and was acquainted with &he fact that the Ravinia Festival C oncerts 
are now on in the North End of the city.) 

Addenda 

Dick and Lily seem to have made a fair adjustment to the li fe 
of Chicago. In fact, one might say that their adjustment is much 
better than in most cases. One important factor contributi ng to 
their optimistic outlook is that their background of life i n Seattle 
hasn't led them to expect too much out of life here. Dick, as h e 
says, has always been on his own working in homes etc. to pay h is 
way through school. Lily, on her part, comes of a family that h as 
never been very well off due to her aged father's frequent il lness 
over the past many years. One gets a hint of this attitu de, of 
not expecting too much, from their willingness to accep t the apart-
ment downstairs almost sight unseen. They seemed to consid er our 
place fairly decent, although Michi has many faults to i fiind with it, 
and is far from considering it a "nice home." When they were s till 
hunting for an apartment two weeks ago and dropped into our place 
during their search of a place, they had a list of housekeepi ng 
rooms advertized in the newspapers, but seemed unaware of t he fact 
that housekeeping rooms are quite a different thing from fen apart-
ment. However, they we're still not unwilling to conside r such a 
place even after our suggestion that they might be cramped i n their 
cooking in a housekeeping room. 
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Another indication of this rather healthy outlook of their s 
is the absence of complaint in their discussion. It is apparent 
that their room in the Maple Manor right next to Hobohem ia on 
Clark St. was far from being a desirable place to live, es pecially 
in view of their having to eat out for a month or more re stau-
rant. If they spoke of the disadvantages of the place,  it would 
be a very casual reference to the handicaps, and they would general-
ly balance the disadvantages with some remarks about the a dvantages. 
It is quite evident from discussion with this couple tha t they are 
confronted with problems and anxieties(and that there are grounds for 
complaint if they wished to bring them out in conversatio ns with 
others, but although with some resettlers it is quite ea sy to evoke 
lengthy discussions of all that troubles them and are sources of 
complaint, this is not at all true in the case of Dick and  Lily. 
One might speak of this as Japanese stoicism (an atti tude that"is 
coupled, among Japanese, with a feeling of inappropriaten ess about 
complaining publicly about one's personal discomfiture , and also 
with the attitude of never expecting too much out of an y situation 
although all the while being in a state of readiness to m ake the 
most of what is given.) 

A second factor contributing their lack of discontent i s that 
both Dick and Lily have jobs and together they are prob ably able 
to make between $225 to §250 a month. This minimizes any fin ancial 
problems they may have, and knowing Dick, it may be assum ed that 
they are probably saving for the future. 

Thirdly, it is also evident that they keep themselves occu pied 
with interest in objects outside themselves instead of mo ping over 
their personal situation. They spend their time going to parks and 
museums, and there seems to be a genuine interest in these a ctivities. 
Although these activities are not such as to maintain an in tensive 
round of social life, neither Dick nor Lily seem to crave th at sort 
of thing very much and can get along with a minimum of c ontact with 
^isei. 'They mentioned that they went out to the A's hom e the other 
day to look them up, but they weren Tt in. Otherwise, they seem not 
to have gone out of their way toa look up their Nisei fiiends  in 
town. Nov/ that they are in this district where there a re a large 
number of churches, they will no doubt begin to goto church , and thus 
make Caucasian contacts in that way. 

One might summarize Dick's philosophy concerning oppo rtunities 
in this way: if the individual seriously spends his time a nd effort 
studying, learning, and enlargening  is.  his experience, he will general-
ly get ahead. In other words, the individual person can not count on 
others to accomplish things for him, but he himself mus t expend the 
maximum effort towards gaining his goals. It seems clear that Dick 
has a definite goal in mind, of learning as much about che mical en-
gineering as he possibly can. On the basis of his perso nal knowledge 
about his field and on his ability he feels fairly confidant that he 
will sooner or later realize his aim, of getting ahead in cham. eng. 
Dick remarked, "One of the fellows in the lab. was remarking to me" 
the other day that opportunities these days are pretty li mited. I 
didn t agree with him, although I didn't tell him so, but I  guess I'm 
more optimistic than he." 
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Present hardships, then, are not something to complain a bout, 
they are experience that should be absorbed for the benefi ts they 
may give the individual in the future. This is only a supe rficial 
analysis of Dick's view of life, for behind his mask of friendliness 
and pleasantness, there may very well be a deeper mental li fe that 
does not come out in ordinary conversation. One would susp ect so, 
for Dick s'&gaks freely of himself, yet he never reveals ent irely 
what he thinks and ffeels. He has a considerable self d iscipline, 
not of an unpleasant kind, and he uses it habitually to res train 
signs of emotion on his face. 

Lily as a somewhat simpler personality. In her case, there 
is apparently no driving ambition to achieve goals, except as they 
are identified with her husbands ambitions. She is gener ally very 
pleasant in a quiet way, but on longer acquaintanceship , one dis-
covers that she shows her feelings more readily than doe s Dick. 
Her ideas and opinions are less clearly formulated than is Dick's. 
As has been mentioned previously, she shov/s a dependent c haracter 
that was probably developed in her relation with her older sister 
who has more qualities of leadership and responsibility,  r̂ie would 
judge that Lily is dependent upon Dick to do most of the t hinking 
in the family. Yet she makes a good wife for she apparently doesn't 
demand too much of Dick, and seems industriousKs enough  about keep-
ing up their home. 
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"I was at Lily's place (they were then unmarried) having lunch 
with their family on December 7th right after church. We ha d fin-
ished lunch when Chisato came over. He said, 'Have you he ard the 
news?' So we turned on the radio, and we heard that Pearl  Harbor 
had been bombed. I guess it really shocked us. l guess we w ere 
afraid. The announcer was saying that it didn't make an y sense be-
cause a peace conference was going on in Washington, D. C., w ith 
Japanese ambassadors and yet there was this bombing of Pearl Harbor. 
I kept hoping that the news wasn't true; that it waw the G ermans 
who had bombed Pearl Harbor." 

"We had earlier decided to attend the music concert at t he 
University of Washington that afternoon, and when Chisato came, we 
decided to go anyway so we drove out in his car. We went to h ear 
the concents, and'all the while we didn't feel very well . All of 
a sudden in the middle of the concert, Ted Bell came out to make 
an announcement. What was it he said ? Anyway, he said 
a state of war existed between the United Sates and Japan . I felt 
scared, and shocked, and lost. It made me self consciou s; I was 
sick about it all. All the time we were at the conert at t he Univ-
ersity, the fact that war had started made us uncomfortab le, and we 
didn't enjoy the music. All the way coming back, of cours e, we talk-
ed of nothing else except the war. I don't know all that w e talked 
about, but one thing I remember very distinctly, we hoped it  wasn't 
the Japanese." 

"That night we had a stag dinner at church, and Mr. Hur&ey 
cooked the dinner for us. Anyway, the food didn't taste ve ry good, 
and all we talked about was the war. The thing that I remember is 
that the one fellow who talked the most that evening was  Tom Iki. 
(Tom is JACL, and typically of that political philosoph y.) Going 
home everything looked miite normal, and the only thing t hat was 
different about us was inside ourselves. I don't know h ow to describe 
it, but I don't think my feelings were any different from that of 
anybody else." 

"I was staying with the Nakatas then, and that night afte r get-
ting home, I guess we talked until ouite late about what" h ad happen-
ed." 

"The following day, I got kind of worried whether to go t o 
school or not. But I decided to go no matter what happene d becuase 
it would look worse if we didn't go as usual. Mike Nakata in vited 
me to go with him in his car down to Sumitomo Bank; I had som e money 
deposited there. It was a. sad case. A lot of Japanese were stand-
ing around in front of the bank 1 guess they had money in the bank 
and they wanted to get it out , but the bank was closed. Ou t at 
school, of course, everybody was talking about the war. I over-
heard some people in the stockroom of the chem. building  saying that 
some Japanese here were okay, but that some couldn't be t rusted." 

"I decided to go around and see all the profs to find out what 
they thought. Professor Buschlein took a very broad view o f the 
problem, he understood our position, so I asked him ab out the job 
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that the department had promised me as lab. assistant. He s aid 
he thought that I would get the job all right, but he wanted t o check 
with the administration to make sure. I next went to see Pr ofessor 
Smith, and he said that the nisei should continue with the ir sbhool-
ing, and he saw no reason why I shouldn't get the .job in spite of 
the war.  •  Then I went to see Professor Tartar. He laughed and said 
I was worrying too much. Everybody thought that we were all ri ght, 
so x decided that there wasn't anything to worry about." 

"About a week after, I went to see Prof. Smith about my job 
again. My job was to set up experiments in the lecture room s o 
that Prof. Smith could give class demonstrations. He called up the 
comptroller* s office to find out if there had been any cha nge in 
their plans, and they okayed my taking the job. I didn't wor ry about 
the job after that; and I started work in early January." 

"I didn't find any antagonism among the students or the profs . 
In fact, 1 felt that school was the best place. I made several f riends 
among those whom I didn't know before. I got to know Loren N ef, and 
a couple of others who were especially interested in me afte r the 
war began. Then I got to know the husband of a woman who was wor k-
ing in social welfare and was in contact with the Japanese. He was 
a classmate of mine, but a much older man than us, and I pot t o know 
him well. 1 still correspond with Loren, and some of the other s." 

"At home, living with the Nakatas, the picture was ouite d iff-
erent, of course. People dropped in, and we heard of all th ose who 
were getting picked up. We started burning lots of things. I t must 
have been after New Years, a letter l had written to my siste r in 
Japan before the outbreak of war came back to me censored. S ome time 
before Chrifetmas we had to turn in our cameras becuase Mr s. Naka&a 
is an issei and she was living in the house, so we used up thre e 
or four films that night." 

"There was one prof, who was a major in the last war, he's no w 
at California, directing chemical warfare, and he told me o f an inci-
dent__that he encountered. He went into a Japanese groce ry store in 
the university District, and he saw a woman come  in  "and start dump-
ing all the fruits and Vegetables on the floor. This profe ssor got 
mad when he saw this, so he grabbed the woman and  toM~ her that she 
was being more un-American than any Japanese and that her action in 
dumping food could be considered sabotage. Anyway, he und erstood 
our position, and he tried to help in every way."' 

"I looked at the newspapers, of course, and followed all th e 
articles on the Japanese. I thought of them as mostly lies. Ma ny 
of my  Caucas ian  friends began telling me about rumors of sabotage in 
Pearl Harbor, but I couldn't put up any arguments against th ese 
stories. I thought the less I said the better at that time ." 

"I felt that the issei might be evacuated, but I didn't thin k 
the Government would evacuate the nisei too. Maybe I felt that the 
nisei mi^ht be evacuated, maybe, but wishful thinking led m e to hope 
that we wouldn't be evacuated. I went to the JACL rally held a t 
the Bukkykai, and when I saw the super-patriotic exhibiti on that 
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the JACL put on, I began doubting doubting the people* s mind, 
whether they were sincere about their loyalty. To test you r loyal-
ty, I think the best way to do it is to lock yourself in your 
room and decided the Question of loyalty to yourself. Th at's the 
best way. I begin to doubt the sincerety of a people 1s loyalty 
when they have to shout it before others and make a show of it. 
A person has to know in his own mind. It's much easier to make 
others believe that you're loyal than to decide it for yourself." 

"Begoie the Tolan Hearings in Seattle, the Seattle Cou ncil of 
Churches wanted to prepare a report for the Tolan Commit tee, and 
they asked all the Japanese Christian churches to help in getting 
questionnaires answered. There was one question I remem ber that 
the questionnaire asked. It inouired whether the pers on would pre-
fer to stay in this country regardless of what happened. Most 
people in the territory I covered between 14th and 20th betw een 
Dearborn and Jackson answered "Yes" to that question. I had no dif-
ficulty in getting those questionnaires answered, th e people were 
cooperative perhaps because it was put out by the church es." 

"Around December 7th it didn't matter to me whether I fin ished 
my degree or not, but as time went on and things returned to near 
normal, then I felt as I did before, that I wanted to finis h my 
degree. I made a special effort to attend school regu larly. I felt 
that our absence would create more suppiffiion than anyth ing else. 
When the war broke out, I didn't know whether I should go on to 
work for my master's degree, but after reassurance from t he profs. 
I no longer worried about it. When evacuation talk bega n, however, 
I knew that I couldn't finish so Professor Buschlein al lowed another 
fellow to be put on my research, and he finished up after I left 
although most of the work was completed by the time I le ft. The 
Army was inducting other students who were working on the ir thesis 
research, and the faculty had decided on the policy of jud ging wheth-
er to give these students credit or not on the basis of what they 
had already completed^, so Professor Buschlein thought I should have 
the same consideration." 

"I didn't know that evacuation of nisei would take place u ntil 
it was announced in the newspapers. A year and a half befor e the 
war, some of the fellows were one day discussing what might happen 
to us if the United States and Japan went to war, and Shoic hi said 
that we'd all land up in a concentration camp. I didn'tfc hink so, 
but I guess Shoichi had more foresight than the rest of us.  Even 
as the newspapers talked about the evacuation, I was hopi ng that it 
wouldn't take place. I guess I was more or less tyring to e scape the 
reality." 

"Mrs. Roe, the lady I worked for in West Seattle while I was 
going through college, told me not to come up to their plac e when 
I called her one day. It was two days after Pearl Harbor. He r 
home is on the top of the hill overlooking the bay, and she sa id 
the3 r  had a lot of anti-aircraft guns around there and a lot of  sol-
diers were always coming and going around their place. S he thought 
it wouldn't be advisable for me to visit them, but sh e was very un-
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derstanding. Kay Iwago used to work for Mrs. Roe before me,  and 
when she heard that Kay's brother was in the army, she used to think 
that it was rather funny he should be in there, but j. gue ss she got 
over that." 

"My problems at evacuation weren't very much compared to other 
people. I was alone eggee^t-^r without any family, so it  wasn't 
much of a problem for me to evacuate. I helped Mrs. N. and some of 
my other friends to pack for evacuation. Mrs. N.'s husb and was 
taken by the FBI, and she didn't have anyone to help her pack." 

"I was so busy and concerned with so many things that I did n't 
have much time to think about the evacuation as an is sue. I was 
busy running around. Lefty Ichihara called me one day and told me 
that I'd been appointed section leader in Area D at Gamp Har mony 
under him, so I was busy finding out what my work was to b e. At 
Church, I was busy. We had a program trying to  fismre  out some of the 
problems we'd encounter at the center and preparing for t hem. Je 
had seven or eight committees organized to study each of such prob-
lems as health, education, recreation, feeding, and so o n. There 
was a lady who had been a missionary an China who had been through 
evacuation in China, and she told us of some of her exper iences there 
and tried to help us get some idea of what to expect. She  helped 
direct our program." 

"On the whole, we were too weak, too much cowards to pr otest 
the evacuation, and I was like all the other evacuees in  that respect. 
So, in other words, I guess I knew that the evacuation wasy bmte 
right, but I felt it was something we had to go through. I fe lt 
that vie weren't in a position to oppose it. As a result, I tried 
to help others in every way that I could help." 

"I felt that the evacuation and the center life wouldn 't be 
ouite like a concentration camp. The lady who was evac uated in 
China described her experiences, but I didn't expect th at. They 
were evacuated when the invading army approached them,  and they had 
no time to prepare adequately for evacuation. In that respe ct, I 
felt that our evacuation would be different, that it woul d be plan-
ned, that we wouldn't be forced to do many things we didn 't want to 
do, that we wouldn't be thrown into some dump and just lef t there. 
I had more faith in the American people than that. I felt th at my 
friends wouldn't let that happen to me, or to the rest o f us. Some 
people worried about getting enough to eat in camp, and of getting 
adequate mediaal attention, but I wasn't worried." 

"We were evacuated to Area C in Camp Harmony on May 9, 194 2. 
Lefty Ichihara called me and said I was to be section lead er in 
Area'D, but I found myself in Area C and couldn't get ove r to Area 
0,  so I took a position as area chaplain in that area. Lil y was in 
Area A with  her'" family,  but I wasn't worried that we'd ever get 
entirely separated where we couldn't be with each oth er. I was con-
fidant that my friends wouldn't permit that to happen." 
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"Camp life was pretty hard for the first couple of days, but as 
we settled down to camp life, I don't think  very  many of us felt 
that we were being very badly mistreated or that we weren't getting 
enough to subsist on. I don ! t think it v/as necessary to complain 
as much as some people did for it wasn't that bad, but I gues s it 
v/as only becauseof the injustice of the evacuation that pe ople 
complained. As time went on, the main problem was that we had t oo 
much time on our hands. I didn't read any books at the assemb ly 
center, I didn't feel like it, and all we did was to get togeth er 
and talk. I guess the future was the main subject of discuss ion. 
We wondered what would happen to the Japanese in this coun try in 
the long run." 

"I really got sore about going to Tule Lake. Tom (his brothe r-
in-law since marriage to Lily) came over the evening before w e left 
for Tule, and told me that I v/as among those going on the ad vance 
crew. I didn't want to go. I had signed up as a chemist when the 
announcement v/as made that an advance crew to Tule Lake was w anted, 
although I knew that the job must be as a laboratory chemis t in the 
hospital and that I wasn't trained for that kind of work. I 'd sign-
ed to go, all right, but they told me nothing about going so I as-
sumed that the whole thing was all off, and I'd decided tha t I didn't 
want to go anyway. I blew up v/hen Tom came over v/ith the news. 
There was another young fellow in our area named Taniguchi who didn't 
want to go, but his father had signed up for him and he was sore 
too. The tv/o of us got together and v/ent over to see Jim Sakam oto 
about having the orders changed so v/e would stay, but there were so 
many people trying to see Sakamoto that v/e couldn't see him. That's 
why'I went along to Tule Lake. Tom knew a lot of people in the a d-
ministrative staff in headouarters, and I felt that he'd pu lled string^ 
to get us to go. That's what made me sore." 

"I was sore all the way down on the train. V/e left on May 26. 
When v/e got down to Tule Lake, it v/as all right, I felt much better. 
The camp looked much better than Puyallup. When I first saw T ule 
Lake,from the train about 11:00 in the morning, l thought, oh  my 
gosh, what a place. It v/as bare, in a kind of desert, v/ith houses, 
and houses, and houses. But it didn't scare me at all, alth ough I 
wasn't happy by any means. The thought of being confined disturbed 
me, and the main concern for me right along was to get out the first 
chance I got. Then I found out that the jobs we signed f or at Gamp 
Harmony didn't mean anything. The WRA at 'Tule Lake hadn't he ard 
anything about them. Boy, I blew up again. 1 wrote back to a lot 
of my friends in Camp Harmony and told them to pay no attentio n to 
the job assignments that v/ere made before a crew left for t he relo-
cation center. I v/ent to see Dr. Carson, Mr. Fagan, Slattery , and 
none of them seemed to know v/hat to do about the problem. Then I 
ran into Frank Smith and told him of my problem. He said tha t there 
v/as surely some kind of job for a person of my training and he pro-
mised to get me something, but nothing ever came of the promis e. 
The project had nothing organized at the time it was too ea rly 
in the game to get into any specialized work. The food was o kay, 
especially when v/e first got there, and the apartments wer e all right. 
The administration gave me a #ery favorable idea, especi ally when 
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I first talked to Mr. Smith. The way he talked I sure thought he 
was a wonderful person." 

"In the "beginning there wasn't anything for me to do wit h my 
chemical engineering training, so I got into housing. Mr . Smith 
said that as long as I wasn't doing anything else, why sho uldn't I 
go into housing where they needed men. It was an easy job, b ut it 
was very busy. I enjoyed it all right. But one thing I didn' t like 
was the way Friedman rushed things. Every monring befo re the new 
arrivals came in he would say, see how quickly you can run al l the 
people through the reception office.  V / e  were assigning apartments 
as the people came through. But each independent family i s differ-
ent, their problems aren't all the same, and we had to take time to 
discuss these problems with the people coming in. It made  me mad 
when Friedman told us to rush them trhough. We organized thr ee dif-
ferent groups of workers: (1) those who took care of the ba chelors, 
(2) those who took care of the large apartments, &nd (3) t hose who 
took care of the small apartments. We had to assign the fam ilies 
according to their size. But the fellow who took care of th e bache-
lors always had more difficulty in the morning thaite the rest of us 
so we  HHed  to rotate our work. It was comparatively easy when we 
assigned new rooms to bachelors, but the difficulties cam e when we 
had to assign bachelors to rooms that were already partia lly occu-
pied. Some people didn't want certain persons with them,  and so on. 
We also had considerable trouble over people moving withou t noti-
fying us. They'd just pack up and go into an empty apartm ent, and 
the next morning v/hen we'd assign the apartment to some ne wcomer, 
we'd find that the apartment was already occupied and we'd have to 
reassign all over again." 

"I don't think Friedman handled housing very efficientljr ; he 
was a poor organizer. In the first place, he wanted to handle 
people like merchandise. It could be done in the morning  when we 
assigned apartments, but we'd run into greater problems in the after-
noon when they came back to complain. One day we got the brilliant 
idea of assigning apartments to families on the night be fore. A 
list of people coming in was always sent us on the day previ ous, 
although the list wasn't always accurate, and we hit on the  idea of 
making apartment assignments from the list before the pe ople arrived. 
We'd have all the assignment sheets made out, and when th e newcomers 
came through in the morning, we'd just hand out these shee ts to 
the people. Boy, we ran through the list in no time. We  thought 
we'd hit on a great idea. But in the afternoon we got more complaints 
than ever before, and we found atit that the system didn 't work. 
The only thing we could do was to handle individual problems as 
carefully as v/e could as they came through." 

"The  California people  were tough. They had more  complaints 
about their hosuing. I found them much more  aggressive  and  demand-
ing than the northerners. I guess people who came first v/rote back 
to their friends  as  to what to ask  for  and v/hat  was  best. Anyway, 
everybody wanted apartments on the south end  of  the barracks, and 
near the messhall. I don 't  know why they  preferred  the south side. 
The projectsxwErE wasn't  ouite  lined up  north and south, you know, 



CH-304A 
August 20, 1943 

-7-

so we'd draw diagrams for the people to show them that there wa sn't 
any apartment with a southern exposure, but that didn't ma ke any 
difference. They wanted apartments on the south end of the b arrack. 
They'd give us all kinds of reasons for getting the partic ular apart-
ment they wanted. They'd tell us of their sick parents or si ck 
children who had to have sunlight. It finally got so that we to ld 
them right from the beginning that they'd have to get writt en state-
ments from the health officer recmisitioning a certain' ap artment 
before we'd give it to them." 

"Friedman just didn't know how to organize things. For examp le, 
when we had the midnight census, I don't know whether that t hing 
ever came out right. The procedure in the census was that t he 
census taker was to write down the names of only those perso ns whom 
he saw; if a member of the family wasn't present, his name w asn't 
to be recorded. People on duty at night, like the firemen, war dens, 
gome farm workers, hospital nip;ht workers, and so on, were to be 
recorded at their place of work. But some census takers didn' t get 
the idea and put down everybody in the family whether  they  were present 
or not. Some" names would turn up in two or three places. Vie n ever 
got the figures to match. I tell you, the whole thing was a me ss. 
The trouble was that workers weren't prepared right; Fri edman should 
have given them much more careful instructions than he did. " 

"We had trouble with the firemen. The firemen v/ere to live 
near the fire house, so we assigned them one whole barrac k near 
the firehouse and all the firemen v/ere supposed to move into these 
apartments. But most of them didn't want to move so they ref used 
to move from their old apartment, and they used the barrack assigned 
to them as a play house. Then Friedman wrote out orders that t hey 
had to move, and we had to carry out those orders. There v/e re only 
ten firemen, and there were four apartments in each barrac k. We 
tried to put all ten firemen in two rooms because we needed th e spaee 
for other families, but the:;- refused to give up the oth er rooms. 
They said they'd put up the partitions, and after going to a ll that 
v/ork, they weren't going to give up their apartments. V/e had to 
go out there and try to move them out; Friedman gave out the or ders 
but he'd never go out to see them carried out. Friedman talk ed to 
Chief Rhodes about it, but Rhodes felt that the firemen had  a right 
to those rooms and refused to back us tip. I guess Friedman ha d a 
couple of big arguments with Rhodes; I'm sure he didn't get al ong 
with him. Once our staff went down to the firemen's apartme nt when 
they v/ere out on duty, and they said we'd broken into their apartments. 
V/e almost had a battle royal over that. Whenever trouble cam e up, 
though, we felt that .Friedman never backed us up. We felt that he 
was yellow about that kind of thing." 

"In the beginning v/ork was all right, but as time v/ent on, v/e got 
into more and more trouble and the work piled up. The trouble s in 
the deaprtment arose because there v/ere alv/ays social pr oblems be-
hind the mere administration of housing. We used to get comp laints 
all the time. When v/e first got to Tule Lake, there weren't any 
small apartments built for couples, so we assigned couple s to large 
apartments. Then Friedman issued orders that the couple s had to get 
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out. That day we saw a trtrole mob of couples bearing down on our 
office, and when they started to argue, Friedman backed ou t and 
said, "No, you don't have to move." Then, another time, Fr iedman 
issued orders that Block 37 people had to move to make roo m for 
grammar school classrooms. A whole gang of people came down to 
the office, and Friedman backed down that time too. He said the 
classrooms could be put in recreation halls. We always fe lt that 
he never gave us support when he handed out orders." 

"One day a family came in among new arrivals who had a cripple d 
girl in a wheel chair. We could see that her case needed special 
attention, and the family talked to us and requested an ap artment 
near the messhall and near the lavatory. We were assign ing apart-
ments beginning at one end of the block, but in her case we w anted 
to give the family a choice of apartment. Friedman, however , said 
that we couldn't do that. He argued that if we gave this fa mily 
special consideration, we'd have to do it for all the familie s. 
Those v/e re the things that made me feel that Friedman was n't a very 
good administrator. We went ahead and gave that family the apart-
ment they needed anyway." 

"It was the student relocation program that gave me the firs t 
encouragement about going out. No, I wasn't interested i n going to 
school, but I wanted to get out, and when I saw that students w ere 
retting out, that was the first ray of hope, ./hen we went to t he 
relocation center, v/e didn't have any definite idea about getting 
married, although both Lily and I knew that we'd get mar ried some 
time. But I wanted to be married v/hen I went out, and that's v/hy 
we decided to have the wedding in camp last September." 
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''I didn't feel the inconveniences of the camp very much. A ll 
those things seem insignificant now. I lived in a bachelor' s apart-
ment in Block 4, You remember the people there; Najima, Mr,  Obayashi, 
Mirikitani, Tani, and Takayama. I felt no inconvenience ab out living 
with all those men in one room. iwas all by myself for the last ten" 
years working for other people's families, never had a h ouse that 
i considered our own home, and I was always more or les s restricted 
to one small room. I didn't feel any inconvenience at all.f or that 
reason. I didn't mind living with' several other people;  in fact, 
I found it interesting, and it was good for me because I ha d more 
social life than before. l got to talk with the other men , and it 
made life interesting. We never had any trouble among our selves as 
far as I know. Everybody did his part. We never had any sc hedule 
of work made out, but none of us minded doing our part volun tarily. 
I think we were fortunate to have that group together; it w as a 
rather unique group. In fact, even Mirkitani wasn't bad, an d he 
worked like the rest of us in keeping up the room, Mirikit ani swept 
and mopped the room every morning. The only thing about  Mirikitani 
that 1 objected to was his taking too much room in one cor ner of the 
room. Each of us respected the property of others, and I don't 
think there was every any case of hard feeling because o f  .  taking 
sombbody else's property, 

"I didn't do much reading except of the Digest and a few thi ngs 
like that. Somehow the time was pretty well taken up in c amp. 
In fact, my time in camp was filled much more than it was in Seattle, 
i guess the activities of the Community Activity's Section , such as 
dances, baseball, and so on, kept us oretty buciy. I used to go see 
the baseball games. I liked the dances very much at fir st. Rose 
and went quite often, but that was when it was mostly for the 
Northwest people; Rose and I got to know some of the Northw est 
young people through those dances; there weren't any C alifornia 
people at thosedances, But when the fellows started co ming with 
boots and overalls on, I didn't like it, and we quit going.  I had 
the idea that even in camp the young people should apoly et iquette 
when they attend dances." 

'I got to know the California people through the churc h. I 
went to church practically every Sunday, in fact, I had t o -o. They 
made me do a lot of things, I acted as usher, and as ward steward, 
and the latter group had meetings quite often. In fact, I got to ' 
Tule Lake on a Wednesday, and by the /ednesday following, a" program 
was already made out. We had a minister from Tulelake c Cme to preach 
to us. rieverend Kuroda arrived about two weeks aftert hat, and he 
took^over. ihe Young Adult Fellowship developed much lat er, for the 
original group was only a church organization in English , but the 
YAF got started about the latter part of August. (Eily :''That was 
one group we hated to leave when we left camp. We just got s tarted 
knowing several of the people in the group, "and we like d "them very 
much.  )  ierhaps some of the poeple who attended were there only for 
social reasons. If they came for religious reasons, I 'm sure they 
had their religions beliefs before they got to camp, and the  influ-

? n S % 2 at Tule Lake couldn't have changed them. At least 
i. iell that my religious belief helped me in adjusting t o the center. 
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1 have always felt, and 1 still feel, that attacking soci al prob-
lems from a religious point of view is very good, and no ma tter 
what anybody else says, I'LI continue to believe that. Unt il oeopk 

} ±ke r,^fistians, and I don't mean just church religion by 
that, 1 don't think social problems can be basically solv ed. 

"I was there ivhen the farmers struck in August. I can't t ell 
you what it was that led to all the trouble in Tule Lake:  I frankly 
don t know. I can understand why the farmers struck all rig ht, and 
I can^apprfcicate their view. I was at the mass meeting w hich they 
held in the fire break. But I felt that the farmers didn't  need 
to strike to solve the difficulty. I had enough faith in the WRA 
to believe that the WRA would see the thing through. I felt that 
the speakers said unnecessary things, that evening, to arouse the 
people. with reference to the trouble at 'Tule ^ake, I am i ncL mned 
to blame ourselves rather than to blame the WRA. Some of it ma v 
have been the Army's fault, some of it might have been the  WRA's 
fault but if we could have thought through our problems mor e clear-
ly and acted with greater widdom, the trouble wouldn't ha ve come 
£| D OOUw  . 

''My feeling was that the WRA policy was much more lenient 
e x p ®C^ e d ? e f o r e  there• In thinking through the 

evacuation of American citizens, the propaganda value of a ,:ood 
relocation program to the .iRIt was a very natural thing . The Ja-
panese Government was condemning the U. S. Government for their 
evacuation of citizens, and I'm sure this government wan ted to do 
S IvEf p? Swl b l ? t 0 m a i n t a i n a  favorable situation in the center. 
Maybe the WRA was too eager to make good and therefore mad e ton 
many Promises which they couldn't keep. Personally/ I was n't con-
cerned by the fact that the wages weren't paid on time. O f coiirse 
1 i i WV i ? £ ! t*^  t h r o u S h the whole tiling, the wages were low 
all right but I just took things as they came. Maybe it's my 
main lault I've always had to make the best of what I coul d' o-et, 
for I've had to work td> keep myself in school ever since ± ca me to 
this country, and that's the philosophy I carried into th e center." 

"Of cause, the food sometimes did bother me, but on the whole 
it wasn't bad. ifi fact, many of the people probably got better 
food tnan they were accustomed to before. The  family "atmosphere 
was missing in the messhalls, but you know all about that. ' 

« o ^  11 a L t e n d e ? S 1 t h e b l o c k m e e t i ngs in Block 4, but I never 
said anything at the meetings. Those meetings never P-ot anywhere 
Mr. ¥uasa was theblock representative when I was there, and I 
l i ^ L j ^  d 0 ± ^  a c a P a b l e  But attendance was veiy poor. 
I was about the only nisei there, the rest were all issei . "Most 
oi the things discussed could have been conveyed better by n ewspaper 
and besides,the things talked about could have been don e by a f e w 
people instead of taking the time of the block peoole. The meetlnrs 
only gave a place where one or two of the issei could argue. ?he?l 
were always a few of them around at our block. I guees I wen t only 
out oi curioustty. The real reason was that I was elected  barrack 
representative for some reason, and I had to go. oarracit 
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"Lily and  - 1-  were planning to get married son© time anyway, 
but when the evacuation came we didn't know what to do. Ther e was 
a rumor in Puyallup when we were still there that part of th e Tuio  • 
Lako people would be relocated to Tule Lake, while the rest w ould 
be sent to some other relocation center. Rose got worrie d, but 
there was nothing we could do about it, so we let it go. Then the 
request came for volunteers to Tule, and that was when- I got mad. 
I told you about that already. Even when we got to Tule Lake, 
we didn't have any definite plans of getting married. But I was 
anxious to get out of camp, and I felt that if I were going ou t, 
I wanted to be married so that we could go out together. ./he n 
1 got the first letter from Mr. Arata, it hastened our ma rriage. 
We didn't have any regrets about getting married in the cent er. 
We couldn't enjoy a honeymoon, that was the only thing . (Rose: 
All of our Seattle friends weren't there. That was our chie f re-
gret. ) 

"Mr. Arata first heard of me through some of my friends. Hi s 
nephew was studying Japanese at Washington State College. One of 
the instructors was Yukie Yoshihara. Yukie's girl frie nd was Yuri 
Tashima. Yuri knew all about me, of course, and when Mr. Arat a 
wrote to his nephew asking to look for a chemist among his f riends, 
and he happened to mention this to Yukie who was his teacher. Yukie 
mentioned this to Yuri, and she wrote to me. About the same t ime 
that her letter arrived, Mr. Irata wrote to me himself. Thi s letter 
came about the latter part of August, and at first I was urdeci ded 
because he only offered me #125 a month and wanted to charge  |il 
a meal. But then he wrote back saying he'd pay $150 a month , and 
also included a house in which to stay. I accepted the offer  then. 

"We left camp about October 6. I told everybody that I might 
have to come back since we were going out on short term lea ve, but 
I didn't want to come back. Since that time, however, the WR A 
made rapid progress on her relocation program, and it turned  out 
that we didn't have to go back there." 

"Prom the first moment that I arrived at a camp, my chief 
desire was to get out. In the first place, the atmosphere of the 
camp was bad psychologically. Everybody was talking about how bad 
the place was, and it didn't make me feel inclined to stay ther e. 
Then I felt that I wasn't useful in a place like that. Idon't 
like to sit around wasting my time, and that was.what I was do ing 
there. Finally, getting out was a kind of novelty at that t ime, 
everybody wanted to get out, but not everybody could . We fel t 
that it was sone thing for us to be able to leave." 

"We went with  a.  busload of sugar beet workers. When we first 
left the camp, we felt joy at getting out of the place, but dur ing 
our trip we forgot about the camp very quickly, and our mind tu rned 
to wondering what kind pf place our future home would be.\ It wasn't 
until we settled to our new work that we really began to re alize 
the joy of getting out? of the center. When we stopped at the to wns 
during our trip, though, we heard people talking about how g ood it 
was to be out." 
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"We stayed the first night at Nyssa, Oregon. Our bus got in 
there about 10:00 in the evening, and we had not means of g etting 
to Pruitland from there although it was only about twenty  miles 
away. Sumio Miyamoto and Mr. Takeda were with us going on their 
tour of the farms at the invitation of the sugar companies , but 
they'd made reservations in town at a hotel, and they had a place 
to stay. They called uptown for us to see if any hotelE ooms were 
availalbe, but they had nothing for us. It made"me kinda m ad be-
cause Mr. Arata knew that we were coming but he hadn't arr anged 
to meet us.  le  had to -unpack our beding and sleep on canvas cots 
in the tent. It was terribly cold that night. 

"The next morning I got in touch with Mr. Arata and he had 
one of his foremen come down to meet us in an old truck. Thi nking 
back, I don't see why I wasn't worried about how people mig ht treat 
us, but at that time I didn't worry about how we would be acce nted 
or how we should behave. '/e never met anything unpleas ant while 
we were there. When we got to Fruitland, the house wasn' t ready 
at all, and there wasn't a stick of furniture in the p lace. We had 
to bring in the stove, and all the furniture, and so on. But the 
people who owned the houwe, the Lev/ises, were very kind,  and be-
tween them and Mr. Arata, they gave us Enough furnishi ngs for our 
needs. We used only three rooms because that was alib the  furniture 
there was, and we left one room completely empty. Mr. Lewis t ook 
us into town and introduced tis to the gDDcer and other  people. 
Rose was lonesome at first." 

"When I got there, they were so busy packing paples and there 
was no drying going on so that  x  wasn't very busy. At that time I 
spent my time writing to all the Agricultural experim ental Stations 
in that district for material and advice on drying. But wh en the 
apples began moving, I was quite busy then. I was working w ith 
the state inspector and federal inspector, who used t o come in all 
the way from Seattle. Once in a while we had a man down from B oise. 
I met quite a few people and I was quite busy. The packers also 
kept coming in and I'd have to see them too. 1 enjoyed the wo rk 
while I was there. In fact, my laboratory was across the str eet 
from the home of State Senator Young. His wife ran a groce ry store 
and I got to know him very well and found him a very fine p erson." 

"Later in the season, we heard from one of the church memb ers 
whose daughter was attending the College of Idaho that t he students 
were objecting because Japanese students were being all owed to enter 
while the Caucasian students were tieing drafted. That was the first 
criticism made of the Japanese that I heard of. Personally, I 
met no discrimination and didn't hear of very many eit her. Mr. 
Lewis told me of one trouble that they had. Some nisei bee t sugar 
workers came out to Weaver one day, and went into a restaur ant. 
I guess there were two boys, but, anyway, they began to w ipe their 
knives and forks the way some of those fellows do. I guess t he 
proprietor didn't like that, so he told them how clean hi s place 
was. The boys talked back in Japanese and laughed at the p roprietor 
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and that started the trouble. The sugar beet company had to come 
in and straighten out the trouble. I guess that was the fau lt of 
the evacuees. I heard it from Mr. Lewis who was on a co mmittee 
that the towns people formed before the beet workers we re brought 
in." 

"Mr. Arata had a little trouble, too, with some apple pickers 
that he brought in.  -  There were about 40 fellows who came over from 
Minidoka to pick apples. He had considerable trouble with that 
group because they were young and wanted fun. There was o ne fel-
low especially who acted as a kind' of labor leader and pr actically 
controlled the workers. He tried to urge  fcfes:  a sit-down strike, and 
finally gave a five day notice to the company that all t he workers 
were quitting unless they got certain demands. They se nt Mr. Arata 
their demands in the form of a petition with the threat of  quitting, 
and there was so much trouble that the WRA had to come in and hold 
a meeting to discuss the problem. At that meeting everyon e, except 
the one fellow who had acted as agitator, wanted to stay. Mr. 
Arata agreed to tear up the petition and forget about the whole 
thing, and permit everybody to go back to work, but this o ne young 
fellow his name was Saito refused to cooperate. The 7/RA g ot 
after him for attempting to control the labor group, and after 
putting considerable pressure on Saito, he finally conse nted to stay 
and cooperate. The next day everybody went back to work an d 
worked hard, but Saito only picked a couple of bushels  of apples 
and then just fooled around. I don't know what they final ly did 
with him. That was one difficulty that Mr. Arata had. This story 
is Mr. Arata's view, of course." 

"I never had any problem about my relations with other wo rkers 
because I was by myself in the laboratory. People were  coming  ore r 
all the time, though. Whenever I didn't have anything to do , I 
went over to the State Inspector's office and visited'.  Late in 
the season, there was a lot of leisure time, and we used  to drag out 
a pocket sized quizz book and quizz each other. Thirds like t hat." 

'Our social relations with the community people were practical-
ly entirely through the church. I got to know a lot of ni ce people 
in Fruitland. It's a small town with a population of abo ut five 
or Six hundred. There were two churches, one Methodist a nd another, 
and the people who went to one church patronized one set o f stores, 
and the other group had their own stores. Most of the ric h fruit 
and vegetable packers, though,diin't live in Fruitland , but they 
lived in Weaver or Payette. Most of the people v/e got to know 
didn t live in town but rather in the outlying districts. We got 
to know them through the church. There were the Champions, fo r 
example, with whom we got to be very good friends. Mrs. Ch ampion 
was a very liberal woman. She'd attended Oregon State Co llege, 
and graduated from the University of Idaho in Moscow. She w as a 
native of Payette. She took a great deal of interest in us, wanted 
to know all about the camps, and had a very good understand ing of 
our position. She made us feel so much at home that we did wh atever 
we wanted to do. One thing I admired about that family wa s that 
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every member of the family participated in any activity. Byr on, 
their son, was only seven years old, but the father and m other 
enjoyed playing in the way he did. We became part of the f amily. 
When the snow came, the whole family used to go sledding , and 
the father and mother had as much fun as the kids. Mrs. Ch ismpion 
still writes to us. Right now she's so busy that she sends us 
one of those "budy-people's cards" on which you just che ck off 
the appropriate remarks. 

"We did miss some of the conveniences of town while we we re 
staying out there on the farm. There was no running water and 
we had to bring it in from the well. That's why when the se ason 
was over, we moved to Ontario. We had to go to picture show s once 
in a while. I really had no serious idea of going back t o that job. 
I had in mind looking for something else because the Arat a job 
was only part time, and while I didn't have any defini te plans, 
I had plans of going somewhere. I placed my application with 
Boulder near the end of that season, but I never got a reply from 
them. 

"Mr. Lewis was in California from November to March when t he 
farm wark was just starting. He came to and asked if I wouldn't 
work for him, and since  1  wasn't doing anything, I went out there 
to help him on his farm. The work was mostly pruning an d that sort 
of thing. I used to ride out every day on a bicycle." 

"We found it much more convenient in Ontario than in Pruitl dnd. 
We had a small apartment with running water and a bath, and we were 
Eloser to the grocery stores and the moview. We were there less 
than three months in March, April, and May. About two an d half 
months to be exact." 

"I was anxious to go somewhere, so in April I wrote Mr. Shir-
rell asking if he could find something for me. - 1- got a reply from 
one of his assistants named Lytell, or somebody, saying tha t 
the immediate task of the WRA was to help those in camps to reloc ate 
and therefore that they couldn't help me to find anythin g. The 
day after I got that fetter, another letter came, this ti me from 
Shirrell saying he'd do whatever he could to find some thing for me. 
About the first of May he wired to tell me about the job I've got 
now. The president of the company, Mr. Rapport, asked me t o tele-
phone him collect, so I talked to him over the phone and got  an 
idea of the job before I came out. Mr. Rapport is a gifted man 
as far as talking is concerned, and he talked his head off at me 
to make the job sound appealing. I accepted the position. I 
imagine he understands the pee  it  ion of the Japanese all right, and 
tries to help us, but I imagine he doesn't tmiiember eve rything that 
he promised." 

"Coming out, the train was so full of soldiers that we fe lt 
a little awkward, but we didn't feel too bad once we g ot started. 
<Ve had to pay our own way, of course,  Mrs.  Shirrell was supposed to 
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have hotel reservations for me. We got in about 11:00 in the 
morning. It was raining when we arrived. I went through the 
old telephone books looking for the TRA number, but we couldn't 
find it, so we took a taxi carrying our three suitaases w ith us. 
At the iVRA we found out that they don't make any more res ervations 
because so many of those for whom the WBA made reservations broke 
them when they came out. I didn't like the idea, natur ally, but 
shu luld ua Mrs. Ross told us to go to the YMCA Hotel, 
where we went and stayed for the first night. :t 

That's 

"That afternoon Lily got a job through the WRA in Highla nd 
Park, but it was too far for me so we came back to Chicago ag ain. 
It would take about an hour and a half to two hours on t he train 
from Highland Park. (Lily: You know how nervous Dick is . The 
train ride was hard on him.) Besides, the train ride added up to 
about four or five dollars a week. The employers were Je wish and 
had two children. They were very nice. They wanted us to st ay, 
and they did everything to persuade us. They thought we did n't 
know Chicago yet, and told us that Chicago people trav el everyday 
on the trains and think nothing of it, and that we'd get used to 
it soon. At that time, I couldn't stand all that." 

"We came back, but it happened to be the week end and we cou ldn't 
get any rooms at the YMCA Hotel. We were in Chicago only o ne day 
when we first arrived, so we didn't know Chicago and didn' t know 
where to look for fooms. We met Wilbur Takifeuchi at the Y, an d he & 
others told us to try this place and that. Prank Tanabe w as living 
at the Maple Manor and told us about it, and we were able to get 
a place there. When we went there first, the landlady seem ed very 
niceso we never thought of the kind of place it was. Of course , 
we didn't know anything about the district (the Near North Side) 
althoguh we heard that Japanese were living nearby, so we just as-
sumed that it was a pretty nice place to stay. When we heard of 
the large number of Japanese living in that district, an d the gen-
eral condition of the area, and when we heard that there w ere 18 
Japanese living at the Maple Manor, I didn't think it wa s a very 
good idea to stay there." 

:l I didn't like Chicago when we first came, that's a cinc h. 
In the first place, the city is so big and people were rush ing 
around so that I hardly felt they were enjoying thems elves. The 
city is too dirty, too." 


